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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

 This case involves an appeal from a judgment of the United States District Court for the 

District of New Union. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction because the case arises under 

the Clean Water Act (CWA), 33 U.S.C. §§ 1251 et seq. Federal district courts have original 

jurisdiction over civil actions arising under the laws of the United States. 28 U.S.C. § 1331 

(2006). On June 1, 2012, the district court granted defendant’s motion for summary judgment 

and denied plaintiff’s motion for summary judgment on all counts. The district court’s order is a 

final decision, therefore the United States Court of Appeals for the Twelfth Circuit has proper 

jurisdiction to hear this appeal pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1291 (2006). 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

I. Whether the Federation lacks standing to sue when its members indicated no direct harm 
other than the loss of illegal activity on Mr. Bowman’s property, and the only causal 
evidence indicated that Mr. Bowman’s actions actually benefit individual plaintiffs. 
 

II. Whether the district court properly dismissed plaintiff’s claim for only alleging “wholly 
past” violations of the CWA based on the activity that had completely ceased forty-five 
days prior to the complaint being filed. 

 
III. Under 33 U.S.C. 1365(b)(1)(B), does NUDEP’s negotiated consent agreement and 

subsequent civil action bar the Federation from filing its own suit substituting their 
choice in penalties for the agency’s? 

 
IV. Whether the District Court correctly ruled that there was no "addition" of a pollutant to 

the wetland, and thus no violation of the CWA, when Mr. Bowman merely moved 
material around within the same wetland and added no material from the outside world? 

 
STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On August 10, 2011, the New Union Department of Environmental Protection (NUDEP) 

filed a complaint (“the first case”) in the United States District Court for the District of New 

Union under § 505 of the Clean Water Act (CWA). (R. at 5). NUDEP sought to enter a consent 

decree memorializing a negotiated settlement with Jim Bob Bowman, who had allegedly violated 
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§§ 301(a) and 404 of the CWA. (R. at 5). NUDEP moved for entry of that decree on September 

5, and Mr. Bowman consented to entry. (R. at 5). However, that motion is still pending, because 

on August 30, nearly three weeks after NUDEP filed suit, the New Union Wildlife Federation 

(“the Federation”) filed a § 505 complaint against Mr. Bowman (“the second case”) concerning 

his alleged violations of §§ 301(a) and 404, substituting its own desired penalties for the 

settlement negotiated by the agency (R. at 5). Following NUDEP’s intervention in the second 

case, Mr. Bowman and the Federation filed cross-motions for summary judgment. (R. at 5).  

On June 1, 2012, the district court denied the Federation’s motion for summary judgment, 

and granted the Plaintiff’s motion for summary judgment on four independently sufficient 

grounds: (1) the Federation lacks standing because its members failed to demonstrate an injury in 

fact; (2) the district court lacked subject matter jurisdiction because all alleged violations are 

wholly past; (3) the district court lacked subject matter jurisdiction because prior state action bars 

the Federation’s citizen suit; and (4) Mr. Bowman did not violate the CWA because there is no 

allegation of facts that would satisfy the “addition” element required for a discharge of any 

pollutant. (R. at 11). This appeal followed. 

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

 Jim Bob Bowman is a citizen of the State of New Union, owning land adjacent and 

hydrologically connected to the Muddy River. (R. at 3). Prior to 2011, farming the land was 

difficult or impossible because the land contained trees, other vegetation, and was subject to 

flooding every year when the river was high. (R. at 3). The parties have agreed that these 

characteristics qualify the property as a wetland for purposes of the U.S. Army Corps of 

Engineers’ Wetlands Determination Manual. (R. at 3–4). Mr. Bowman’s land contained signs 

warning against trespassers in accordance with state law. (R. at 6). In 2011, Mr. Bowman 
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decided to turn his previously unused land into a productive wheat farm. (R. at 5). On June 15, 

2011, Mr. Bowman began this transition by clearing part of his land to create a field, which he 

then leveled, relocating soil from the high portions of the field into trenches and the low-lying 

portion of the field. (R. at 4). In the process, Mr. Bowman burned the vegetation and redeposited 

the ashes in the soil. (R. at 4). At no point did Mr. Bowman deposit any soil, rocks, fill, or other 

material from outside of his wetland property. (R. at 9). Mr. Bowman only transformed part of 

his property into a wheat field. He did not alter his 97,500 square feet of wooded land lying 

adjacent to the Muddy River. (R. at 4). That land was left in its pre-existing wooded state, 

preserving the viewscape of the Muddy River. (R. at 8).  

Prior to the conclusion of Mr. Bowman’s work on July 15, members of the New Union 

Wildlife Federation (“the Federation”) became aware of his project, which they worried may be 

in violation of the Clean Water Act (“CWA”). (R. at 4). But rather than approaching Mr. 

Bowman with their concerns, on July 1, the Federation chose to give notice of their intent to sue 

Mr. Bowman under the citizen suit provision of the CWA. (R. at 4). Pursuant to the requirements 

of that provision, the Federation served notice upon Mr. Bowman, the Environmental Protection 

Agency, and the New Union Department of Environmental Protection (“NUDEP” or “the 

agency”). (R. at 4). This began a sixty-day period where only the agencies retain the right to 

bring an enforcement action against Mr. Bowman under the CWA. 

 Upon receipt of the Federation’s notice, NUDEP took immediate action by contacting 

Mr. Bowman in regards to his alleged violation of the CWA §§ 301(a), 404 and initiating the 

negotiation of a settlement agreement. (R. at 4). NUDEP and Mr. Bowman ultimately came to a 

negotiated settlement wherein NUDEP would forgo a penalty in exchange for Mr. Bowman: (i) 
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deeding an easement over 146,250 square feet of his land1 to the State for public use; (ii) 

agreeing to relinquish the agricultural and development value of those 146,250 square feet 

without compensation; (iii) agreeing to construct and maintain a year-round, partially-inundated 

wetland at considerable initial expense and indeterminable future expense; and (iv) and, as 

determined by the District Court, utilize his own resources to secure the State’s interests in 

preserving the viewscape of the Muddy River, enhancing the wetlands environment on Mr. 

Bowman’s property, and opening up more space for public recreation in an improved wetlands 

environment. (R. at 4, 7–8). Though he made these substantial concessions, at no point did Mr. 

Bowman admit violation of the CWA. 

On August 1, NUDEP memorialized this agreement with Mr. Bowman’s consent, by 

issuing an administrative order regarding his alleged violation of the CWA §§ 301(a) and 404. 

(R. at 4).  

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

 Summary judgment is appropriate when there is no genuine issue as to material fact and 

the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a). As a question of law, 

the Court reviews de novo the district court’s decision to grant the defendant’s motion for 

summary judgment on each of his four alternative arguments. E.g., Rockwood v. SKF USA Inc., 

687 F.3d 1, 9 (1st Cir. 2012); Ognibene v. Parkes, 671 F.3d 174, 182 (2d Cir. 2011); cf. Elder v. 

Holloway, 510 U.S. 510, 516 (1994) (questions of law are generally to be resolved de novo on 

appeal). 

 

 

                                                
1 Including the 97,500 square feet of unaltered land, which abuts the Muddy River. 
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SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

 This case is not about whether Mr. Bowman’s 2011 farming activity will ultimately be 

bad for the environment. After NUDEP became aware of that activity, they sat down and met 

with Mr. Bowman to discuss the allegations against him. Through negotiation and mutual 

concessions, the two parties came to a resolution that would ensure the environment was better 

off than it was before 2011. The district court was correct in ruling that the Federation lacks 

standing to challenge the farming activity, that the court lacks subject matter jurisdiction because 

any alleged violation of the CWA is wholly past, that the court lacks subject matter jurisdiction 

because of NUDEP’s prior state action against Mr. Bowman, and that Mr. Bowman’s farming 

activity did not meet the “addition” requirement to violate §§ 301(a) and 404 of the CWA.  

 The district court was correct in holding that the Federation does not have standing. 

Standing requires that the Federation’s members have suffered actual, specific, and imminent 

harm, which is fairly traceable to Mr. Bowman’s actions, and which is redressable by the courts. 

The members claim to use the Muddy River for recreational purposes and present three claims 

regarding harm, each of which is legally invalid.  

First, though the members acknowledge no change in Mr. Bowman’s riverside land, they 

claim to fear other farmers will pollute the Muddy River and render it unusable. However, 

standing requires present or imminent harm fairly traceable to the defendant’s actions, not harm 

at some unknown date in the future traceable only to the actions of third parties. Second, one 

member alleged the River appeared more polluted. However, this general averment conflicts 

with the testimony of the other two members who claimed not to have seen any difference and is 

not specific enough to preclude summary judgment. Third, one member alleged he had observed 

fewer frogs while trespassing on Mr. Bowman’s property to capture frogs. This cannot be a basis 
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for harm because harm requires invasion of a legally protected interest, unlike an interest 

dependent upon trespass.  

Even if the Federation had suffered harm traceable to Mr. Bowman’s allegedly violative 

clearing activities, the district court correctly held that alleged violation of the CWA would be 

wholly past, thus depriving the court of subject matter jurisdiction. An alleged violation must be 

continuing or likely to reoccur in order for a court to properly entertain a citizen suit under the 

CWA. In determining that Mr. Bowman’s alleged violation is wholly past, the Court should 

focus on the last “discharge date” of alleged pollutants, rather than entertain different standards 

for different types of material or parts of the statute. The date of discharge test is more 

administrable as a threshold question than tests focusing on how the discharged material interacts 

with the wetland after it enters the water. Mr. Bowman’s fill activity halted forty-five days prior 

to the Federation’s filing a complaint, and there is no allegation or evidence that he might engage 

in other activity that might violate the CWA. Rather, the last date of discharge is conclusively 

known to have occurred prior to this lawsuits commencement because he has deeded an 

easement over the remainder of his land, which requires compliance with CWA standards and 

allows public access as part of his onerous negotiated settlement with NUDEP. 

This onerous negotiated settlement correctly served as the centerpiece for the district 

court’s ruling that the Federation was precluded from bringing a CWA citizen suit by prior state 

action constituting diligent prosecution. Under the CWA’s regulatory scheme, a citizen-plaintiff 

may only bring suit if after receiving notice, government agencies decline to pursue enforcement 

action seeking compliance with the applicable CWA standards. After the Federation gave notice 

to NUDEP, the agency immediately sent its own notice to Mr. Bowman and began investigating. 

The agency ultimately came to a negotiated settlement worth more than the civil penalties they 
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could have instituted and obtaining a more effective wetland environment at Mr. Bowman’s 

expense. The Federation sought to second-guess the agency’s negotiated remedy and supplant 

the agency’s enforcement role by substituting its own ideal penalties. As a citizen-plaintiff’s role 

in the CWA’s regulatory scheme is to supplement—not supplant—agency action, the district 

court correctly held that NUDEP’s civil action to enter its negotiated settlement as a consent 

decree barred the Federation’s suit. 

Finally, the court was correct to find that Mr. Bowman’s actions did not violate the 

CWA. A violation of the CWA requires that Mr. Bowman “discharged” pollutants into his 

wetland without a permit.  The CWA specifically and deliberately defines a “discharge” as an 

“addition.”  The plain and ordinary meaning of “addition” demands that at least some previously 

absent material be introduced from outside of the wetland.  The court correctly ruled that there 

was no “addition” in this case because Mr. Bowman did not introduce any material to his 

wetland that was not there before, rather he moved material around that was already within the 

wetland.  The plain and ordinary meaning of “addition” is the only rational interpretation of that 

term and any alternative interpretation would lead to absurd results.  For instance, merely 

bicycling on a wetland or even simply walking through a wetland could be prohibited and 

regulable activities under the CWA because both cause soil and earth to move around.   

Legislative history and maintenance of consistent definitions within the CWA lend 

further support to this conclusion. The legislative history of the CWA indicates that it was the 

intent of § 404 was to eliminate discharges of dredged spoil in the open water. This is not a case 

where excess material was removed from the wetland and deposited in the nearby river or in a 

wholly separate body of water some distance away as appears to have been contemplated by 

Congress and thus is not a violation.  Lastly, “addition,” as it was used in another section of the 
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CWA, has been interpreted by the Supreme Court to require that the pollutant be transferred 

from one navigable body of water to another “meaningfully distinct” body of water.  This is 

consistent the plain meaning of addition and should be equally applicable to § 404 because two 

terms used within the same statute should be presumed to have the same meaning.  If the 

Supreme Court’s “meaningfully distinct” test is applied to this case, there cannot be a violation 

of the CWA because all activities involved the movement of material within one portion of the 

same wetland and no additional material was introduced from the outside world. 

ARGUMENT 

I.  THE FEDERATION LACKS STANDING BECAUSE ITS MEMBERS HAVE 
NOT DEMONSTRATED ACTUAL OR IMMINENT HARM FAIRLY 
TRACEABLE TO MR. BOWMAN’S LAND-CLEARING ACTIVITIES. 

 
As an institutional plaintiff, the Federation must demonstrate that their members have 

individualized standing to bring a citizen suit. See, e.g., United Food & Commercial Workers 

Union Local 751 v. Brown Grp., Inc., 517 U.S. 544, 552 (1996). The Federation must show its 

three proffered members have suffered (1) actual and imminent harm, which is (2) fairly 

traceable to Mr. Bowman’s actions, and (3) redressable by the court. Lujan v. Defenders of 

Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560–61 (1992). Even in environmental cases, the harm suffered must be 

experienced specifically and directly by the plaintiffs. See Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. Laidlaw 

Environmental Services (TOC), Inc., 528 U.S. 167, 183–84 (2000). Absent specific harm to the 

plaintiffs, harm to ‘the environment’ is not sufficient to confer standing. Sierra Club v. Morton, 

405 U.S. 727, 734–35 (1972). Instead, there must be harm to a legally cognizable interest of the 

plaintiff. Id. 

The Federation offers two alternative bases for harm. First, three of its members 

occasionally use the Muddy River for recreational boating, fishing, and picnicking on Mr. 
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Bowman’s property. (R. at 6). Second, one member, Norton, catches frogs (“frogging”) on Mr. 

Bowman’s property. (R. at 6). The Federation cannot demonstrate specific, actual harm to its 

individual members, because (A) the picnicking and frogging cannot provide a basis for relief 

because the loss of illegal use is no loss at all; and (B) Mr. Bowman has actually improved that 

use of the land through the easement deeded to NUDEP. Even if the Federation could 

demonstrate harm, (C) it cannot show traceability because plaintiffs have not produced a scintilla 

of evidence demonstrating the clearing activity caused the “harm” they allege.  

A. The loss of illegal use of Mr. Bowman’s land is not a basis for harm because it is 
not a legally protected interest. 

 
The plaintiff’s three individual representatives contend they use the Muddy River and 

Bowman’s property for recreational activity such as fishing, boating, and picnicking. While harm 

can be based purely on aesthetic degradation, see Sierra Club, 405 U.S. at 734–35, all three 

concede that there is no aesthetic harm based on the appearance of the riverbank. (R. at 6). The 

146,250 square foot buffer zone has made this stretch of riverbank indistinguishable2 from any 

other section or its own appearance prior to Bowman’s field-clearing, and the representatives 

have continued to use the Muddy River. (R. at 6). The only claimed diminution in their use has 

been that Norton has caught fewer frogs since Mr. Bowman’s clearing activities. 

                                                
2 One member, Milton, makes an unsubstantiated claim that the river “appears more polluted,” 
which is both outweighed by the other two members of the Federation who see no such increase 
in pollution and unsubstantiated by evidence. (R. at 6). At best, the Federation’s evidence of 
river pollution “is merely colorable . . . or is not significantly probative,” thus making summary 
judgment appropriate. See Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 249–50 (1986). There 
is no significantly probative evidence of this pollution, nor is there even a claim that this belief 
has affected Milton’s use of the river or that Mr. Bowman’s actions caused this supposed 
appearance. In resolving a motion for summary judgment, the Court will not assume the veracity 
of general averments or conclusive allegations like “the river appears more polluted,” but rather 
will only consider allegations of specific facts to be genuine issues for trial. Lujan v. Nat’l 
Wildlife Fed’n, 497 U.S. 871, 888–89 (1990). 
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Norton’s diminished ability to trespass on Mr. Bowman’s property and catch frogs cannot 

serve as a basis for harm because that frogging was illegal. The ability to act illegally is not and 

should not be protected by the courts. See, e.g., Oscanyan v. Arms Co., 103 U.S. 261, 268 

(1880). The court will not enforce or protect “what it has forbidden and denounced.” Id. Instead, 

“[t]o constitute injury in fact, harm to the plaintiff must be an invasion of a legally protected 

interest.” Pa. Prison Soc’y v. Cortes, 508 F.3d 156, 165 (3d Cir. 2007) (citing Whitmore v. 

Arkansas, 495 U.S. 149, 155 (1990)). Norton has admitted on the record that he was trespassing 

in using Bowman’s property, despite clearly marked signs prohibiting trespassing, in accordance 

with state trespass laws. (R. at 6). As demonstrated by his frogging in the drained field, Norton 

went so far as to trespass over 150 feet onto Mr. Bowman’s property. (R. at 6). Because Norton 

had no legally protected interest in trespassing,3 the Court should not protect his inability to frog 

on the cleared field by labeling it a “harm” sufficient to confer standing. 

The other plaintiff members indicated they would use the riverfront property for picnics 

and other recreational uses, even though it is clear the property was properly marked under New 

Union law against such trespasses. (R. at 6). The Court similarly cannot uphold a right of 

trespass to picnic as a basis for a claim of harm. To do so would be akin to telling a hotel it 

cannot redesign its lobby because a local law student enjoys studying in its current comfortable 

furniture. However, the Court need not reach the issue regarding picnicking, because there has 

                                                
3 Norton claims some of his frogging is based on subsistence, but this can hardly rise to the level 
of an emergency or necessity that would justify his trespass under traditional common 
law. E.g. Restatement (Second) of Torts § 197 (1965) (“The privilege stated in this Subsection 
exists only where in an emergency the actor enters land for the purpose of protecting himself”). 
While there is limited permission under federal regulations to subsistence fish, there is no 
evidence that Norton's activity has complied with any relevant state subsistence fishing 
regulations. See 36 C.F.R § 242.27(a) (2012). Nevertheless, any subsistence frogging exemption 
does not create an independent right to trespass and to engage in simultaneous recreational 
frogging. 
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been no claim to diminished ability to picnic. The Federation’s representatives claim to picnic on 

the banks of the Muddy River, well within the easement granted by Mr. Bowman as part of 

NUDEP’s settlement agreement. (R. at 6–7). As with frogging, the consent decree will create a 

legally protected interest in accessing the land to picnic on the banks of Muddy River. (R. at 8). 

Because this legally protected interest did not exist prior to Mr. Bowman’s clearing activities, it 

could not possibly have been harmed, and cannot serve as the basis for the injury-in-fact 

necessary for standing. 

B. Mr. Bowman’s activity will actually improve the individuals’ use and enjoyment 
of the riverbank and his property 

 
As the district court noted, the evidence presented indicates Mr. Bowman’s actions will 

benefit people seeking to use his land and the adjacent Muddy River. (R. at 6). Independent 

testimony from a NUDEP biologist indicated that his new buffer zone would provide a better 

habitat for frogging, the primary direct harm alleged by plaintiff Norton. (R. at 6). With a larger 

buffer zone that will be continuously maintained by Bowman, the recreational value of the 

riverbank will improve even as he incurs the cost of that improvement. (R. at 7–8). Bowman’s 

agreement to conserve, construct, and maintain wetland conditions on 146,250 square feet along 

the riverbank convinced even the independent state expert that a better environment would exist 

in that area. (R. at 6).  

The Federation’s fear that other farmers may override Mr. Bowman’s positive effect and 

pollute the Muddy River is insufficient to establish present harm. The Federation representatives 

mention that while they do not see any present pollution, they fear future pollution of the Muddy 

River due to other farmers clearing land may result in future loss of use. (R. at 6). A fear of harm 

that may occur in the future is insufficient to establish standing. Lujan, 504 at 556. In Lujan, the 

court dealt with the plaintiffs’ fear that when they went to visit project sites, the currently 
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endangered animals would be extinct. Lujan, 504 at 556. The Court found this harm to be too far 

in the future and too speculative to fulfill the requirement of “imminent injury.” Id. Setting aside 

the logical fallacy of blaming Mr. Bowman for the actions of anonymous farmers, the 

representatives’ fear that the river may be polluted sometime in the future is even more 

speculative than the fear that endangered animals will go extinct if unprotected. Therefore, it is 

too speculative to serve as “imminent injury.” See id.  

Should future actions cause actual harm, there might be a basis for a citizen suit against 

those future polluters. But in the present, Mr. Bowman’s activities have not actually harmed the 

representatives’ use; they have improved it. As the court must focus on the actual or imminent 

harm, the direct increase in quality of the individual’s Muddy River experience is the only salient 

side of this equation, and demonstrates there is no harm. 

C. Any harm pled is not sufficiently traceable to Bowman’s farming activity 
because the plaintiff has presented no evidence showing that the supposed harm 
is caused and not merely correlated with Mr. Bowman’s farming activity. 

 
The Federation’s claim to standing also fails the traceability test. In demonstrating 

traceability, the Federation bears the burden of showing that between June 15 and August 30, 

2011, Mr. Bowman’s farming activity caused Norton’s claimed decrease in frogs. See Cnty. of 

Riverside v. McLaughlin, 500 U.S. 44, 51 (1991) (standing is analyzed as of the time of filing). 

At best, there is a speculative connection between Mr. Bowman’s action and Norton’s claim to a 

lower observation rate of frogs within two and a half months of that action. Norton’s testimony, 

on the record, provides no claim as to cause-and-effect, simply an unsubstantiated claim that he 

observes fewer frogs now on Bowman’s property. (R. at 6). 

The Federation’s claim fails to establish traceability because it is wholly speculative and 

absent evidentiary support. Pure speculation regarding an alleged connection between a 
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defendant’s action and harm to the plaintiff is insufficient to establish traceability in the face of 

alternative theories of causality. Simon v. E. Ky. Welfare Rights Org., 426 U.S. 26, 43 (1976). In 

Simon, low-income individuals who had been turned away without care by private hospitals sued 

the Commissioner of the Internal Revenue Service, alleging IRS’s tax policies encouraged the 

hospitals to reject indigent patients. Id. at 31, 42. The Court rejected this claim as failing to trace 

the alleged harm—non-provision of care—to the defendant’s action, because it was too 

speculative given alternative reasons for non-provision of care. Id. at 42–43. Absent expert 

testimony or evidence that draining water from Mr. Bowman’s land into the Muddy River 

miraculously led to a precipitous drop in frog population, Norton and the Federation ask the 

court to speculate as to causation. And they ask the Court to speculate in the face of alternative 

theories including factors like over-frogging, seasonal changes,4 or upstream pollution which 

could be responsible for any reduction in frog population between June 15 and August 30, 2011. 

This unfounded speculation in the face of alternative theories cannot fulfill the traceability 

requirement as informed by Simon. 

II.  THE COURT LACKS SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION BECAUSE ANY 
ALLEGED VIOLATION IS WHOLLY PAST AND WILL NOT CONTINUE. 

 
The Supreme Court has unequivocally held that there is no subject matter jurisdiction to 

hear a citizen suit regarding alleged Clean Water Act violations that occurred wholly in the past. 

Gwaltney of Smithfield, Ltd. v. Chesapeake Bay Found., Inc., 484 U.S. 49, 64 (1987). On 

remand, the Fourth Circuit established what has become the majority rule for whether a violation 

is ongoing instead of wholly past: (1) there is a violation on or after the date of the complaint, or 

(2) there is evidence that would allow a reasonable jury to believe a violation is intermittent or 

                                                
4 Norton specifically indicated that his observation rate of frogs depended on “the right season.” 
(R. at 6). 
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might recur. Chesapeake Bay Found., Inc. v. Gwaltney of Smithfield, Ltd., 844 F.2d 170, 172 

(4th Cir. 1988). Mr. Bowman’s fill activity halted forty-five days before the lawsuit was filed, 

and the lack of any discharge from a point source since that time should render the Federation’s 

alleged CWA violation wholly past. 

Following the Gwaltney remand, Mr. Bowman proposes this court consider the most 

recent or future alleged “discharge date” as a test to determine whether the violations at issue are 

“wholly past” within the meaning of the Gwaltney progeny. Other courts have focused on either 

the “continuing effects” or mere “continuing presence” of the original discharge to attempt to 

craft a rule as to when violations are past. This is a false distinction because most pollutants are 

both persistent to some degree and have long-term, continuous effects when introduced into an 

ecosystem. This makes judicial reliance on these factors unpredictable. We propose a standard 

based on the last “discharge date” for the alleged violation, either based on predictive or pattern-

based evidence anticipating a future discharge or allegations that a violation has occurred since 

the lawsuit commenced. This would provide the most administrable interpretation of the 

Gwaltney rule prohibiting citizen suits predicated on “wholly past” violations.  

A. Tests based on either “continuing effects” or “continuing presence” of pollutants are 
inconclusive and unworkable. 

 
Reliance on effects or presence to craft a rule has led to anomalous results. The clearest 

example is the case of Conn. Coastal Fishermen’s Ass’n v. Remington Arms Co., which 

involved lead refuse from a skeet shooting range that accumulated in the Long Island Sound and 

began to decompose into new pollutants. 989 F.2d 1305, 1312 (2d Cir. 1993). The Second 

Circuit held that the violations were wholly past because the shooting range had closed down and 

ceased all activity that could be considered a discharge. Id. at 1312–13. Despite its holding that 

the last date of discharge was wholly past, this case has been cited on both sides of the debate: 
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either to show transient pollutants can settle and remain in place, or that persistent fill pollutants 

can have continuing effects. Compare City of Mountain Park v. Lakeside at Ansley, LLC, 560 F. 

Supp. 2d 1288, 1296 (N.D. Ga. 2008) (calling the lead refuse transient “pollutants other than fill 

materials”), with Wilson v. Amoco Corp., 33 F. Supp. 2d 969, 975 (D. Wyo. 1998) (finding that 

Remington’s persistent pollutants merely had “continuing residual effects resulting from a 

discharge[, which] are not equivalent to a continuing discharge”). The Remington court, 

however, directly noted that its decision relied on the distinction between past discharges from 

point sources and the “mere decomposition” of previously-discharged pollutants: 

“[N]o fair-minded juror could find that there was a likelihood in April 1987 that 
Remington would discharge lead shot in the future . . . . [T]here was no evidence 
that Remington was . . . violating or would violate the Act by discharging “other 
materials” into Long Island Sound. Similarly, plaintiff did not cure this pleading 
defect by alleging in its amended complaint that the lead shot previously 
deposited in the [S]ound is a point source discharging pollutants as it dissolves. 
The present violation requirement of the Act would be completely undermined if 
a violation included the mere decomposition of pollutants. In sum, plaintiff's 
Clean Water Act suit against Remington was directed at wholly past violations.”  
 

Remington, 989 F.2d at 1312–13 (emphasis added). While the Remington decision has been used 

to support various effects- or persistence-based rules to interpret the “wholly past” requirement, 

its own reasoning recognizes the importance of the last date of discharge in showing the moment 

when violations ceased. 

The source of this confusion lies in the false distinction courts have made between 

pollutants with continuing effects and pollutants that persist in the environment. Ecosystems 

involve constant change and dynamic adaptations. Anything introduced into a new environment 

is likely to have continuing effects as organisms and physical processes respond, and also to 

persist in those effects. Plaintiffs seek to exacerbate this distinction by separating the standard for 

what is “wholly past” between § 402 (NPDES permits) and § 404 (fill permits) violations, 
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alleging that fill material is persistent while pollutants regulated with § 402 permits are transient. 

(R. at 7). The district court correctly saw through this argument, noting that this distinction is 

quintessentially a fact-intensive issue. (R. at 7). Not every § 404 fill material is persistent, static, 

and unchanging. Often there is leaching or migration from fill material. See Umatilla 

Waterquality Protective Ass’n v. Smith Frozen Foods, Inc., 962 F. Supp. 1312, 1322 (D. Or. 

1997) (finding migration of pollutants from the original discharge site into navigable waters 

through hydrologic connections). Many pollutants commonly regulated under § 402 are 

transient, but also settle, collect as sediment, or persist in the environment and ecosystem (much 

like fill material). See, e.g., Persistent Organic Pollutants: A Global Issue, A Global Response, 

EPA (last updated Dec. 2009), www.epa.gov/international/toxics/pop.html (discussing how 

persistent organic pollutants, heavy metals, agricultural waste, and industrial pollutants have 

been discharged in, inter alia, the Great Lakes and remained until clean up efforts commenced). 

Making jurisdiction for citizen suits different under §§ 402 and 404 results in inconsistent 

application of the citizen suit provision—which applies equally to both parts of the CWA—

within the Act’s two most important provisions. This violates a fundamental principle of 

statutory construction, requiring that the same provision not be construed differently for different 

parts of the same statute. Gustafson v. Alloyd Co., 513 U.S. 561, 573 (1995) (explaining that if 

Congress means for the same provision to have different meanings for different sections of a 

statute, they will explicitly say so). The burden remains on the plaintiffs to demonstrate that the 

term “violation” implies different types of “discharges” when they allege a discharge related to § 

404 instead of a discharge related § 402. They have articulated only a convenient factual 

distinction without a legal principle that can consistently apply to all sections of the CWA. The 
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Federation specifically asked the court to find a different meaning of “violation” for each part of 

the law. (R. at 7) (“Plaintiff claims § 402 violations are irreversible . . . .”).  

In contrast to the impermissibly inconsistent reading required to rationalize a “continuing 

effects” rule, a rule based on the date of termination of a discharge from a point source observes 

consistent definitions for each of these terms throughout the CWA. Under a “discharge date” 

rule, the issue would be about when a leak occurs, rather than what the scientific interaction 

between the leaked material and the surrounding environment is (an inquiry which would require 

a full evidentiary hearing prior to any finding that the court had subject matter jurisdiction). 

(i) Mr. Bowman’s filled field has not had any secondary discharges or subsequent effects 
which would extend the violation date beyond July 15, 2011. 

 
Mr. Bowman’s fill activity has not had, and is not likely to have, any pollution-like 

migration or seepage. Even applying the effects test that asks whether the fill material at issue 

has begun to release its own pollutants, there is no evidence of a violation or future violation. 

The record has no indication from any party that there might be such a migration, or that such a 

migration would constitute a discharge from a point source or discrete conveyance. It is clear that 

the fill material emplaced by Mr. Bowman remains in place on his fields, but there is no 

evidence that there has been any seepage or migration through hydrologic connections.  

(ii) The continuing presence test for citizen suits would create absurd and undesirable 
results. 

 
The “continuing presence” test would open the floodgates of citizen suit litigation to an 

undesirable level. A wetland filled in 1950 prior to the enactment of the CWA would justify a 

present-day lawsuit based on the mere continued existence of the fill material in the wetland. 

There would be no meaningful limit to the scope of violations. The number of potential plaintiffs 

and potential actions that could be challenged is infinite; stretching back through history there 
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are hundreds of thousands of filled fields, dams, streets built on filled ground, or buildings 

constructed on former wetlands.5 Even courts that have recognized a “continuing presence” test 

recognize that this theory confers jurisdiction over activity that happened before the enactment of 

the CWA itself. Sasser v. EPA, 990 F.2d 127, 129 (4th Cir. 1993) (finding that the continued 

presence of pollutants discharged prior to the enactment of a statute that punished such a 

discharge was sufficient to confer jurisdiction). 

B. Mr. Bowman has stopped all discharges from point sources, which provides the best 
bright line test for whether a violation is wholly past. 

 
(i) This Circuit should adopt a bright line rule that violations are wholly past if the 

allegedly illegal discharge has ceased. 
 

This circuit should adopt a rule for when violations are “wholly past” based on the date 

specific discharges alleged took place or are likely to take place. This “discharge date” rule 

would allow easy application of the Gwaltney remand test, which asks whether it is reasonable to 

expect a future violation or whether an actual violation has occurred since filing. Gwaltney, 844 

F.2d at 172. Both prongs are more easily discerned when the discharge event is the dispositive 

factor, rather than fact-intensive questions regarding the extent and import of persistent or 

transient pollutants. In Los Angeles v. Lyons, a past violation could only give rise to a justiciable 

claim if it was both “capable of repetition” and there was a “reasonable showing that [plaintiff] 

will again be subjected to the illegal activity.” 461 U.S. 95, 108 (1983). The Court has indicated 

a clear rule that past discrete actions are not grounds for relief without some evidence that the 

illegal action will reoccur. This focuses the jurisdictional issue on the predicate action rather than 

                                                
5 There are, e.g., more than 84,000 large dams alone in the United States. U.S. Army Corps of 
Eng’rs, National Inventory of Dams (Nov. 2011), www.agc.army.mil/fact_sheet/NID.pdf. Even 
parts of Washington, D.C. were built by filling in “wetlands with trees.” John Kelly, Washington 
built on a swamp? Think again., Wash. Post (Mar. 31, 2012), 
http://www.washingtonpost.com/local/washington-built-on-a-swamp-think-
again/2012/03/31/gIQA7BfBpS_story.html. 
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the scientifically complex claim to harm that continues to occur as a result of the past action. As 

a threshold question of jurisdiction, Mr. Bowman’s proposed discharge test preserves judicial 

economy by ensuring resources are expended litigating the merits of violations that are tangible 

and identifiable through the point-source discharges the CWA facially regulates in the first place. 

At best, the Federation has alleged that fill activity might hypothetically have an effect on 

the wetland ecosystem in the Muddy River, but that does not demonstrate that another discharge 

will occur in the future to make the claim viable. Under the plaintiff’s theory, no discharge is 

ever wholly past, but rather persists in the environment unless the pollutant in question is 

effectively removed from the water.6 Such a theory is only desirable to prevent the supposed 

incentive for polluters to finish their pollution quickly, before a lawsuit is filed. N.C. Wildlife 

Fed’n v. Woodbury, No. 87-584-CIV-5, 1989 WL 106517, at *3 (E.D.N.C. Apr. 25, 1989). This 

incentive disappears when the CWA as a whole is considered. Enforcement of CWA violations 

for past violations can still occur, it simply must come at the behest of the agency (much like 

NUDEP chose to intervene in this case and negotiate a remediation agreement with Mr. Bowman 

to correct a past fill action). NUDEP’s decision to join Mr. Bowman in opposing the jurisdiction 

for this action is a clear practical example of the agency’s exercise of its broader power than a 

citizen-plaintiff. While NUDEP is certainly prosecuting what it considers to be wholly past 

discharges, it contends that the same claim is not an appropriate citizen suit. 

Agency discretion to prosecute wholly past actions is greater than a private person’s 

ability to bring a citizen suit. Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 58 (acknowledging agencies may bring 

enforcement actions to recover civil penalties for wholly past violations). In contrast, a citizen 

                                                
6 Practically speaking, this is often impossible, such as when the discharged pollution is 
something as difficult to track as heat, rock, or sand, all of which are pollutants identified in 33 
U.S.C. § 1362(6). 
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suit is a forward-looking mechanism to notify the government and defendant of an alleged 

violation. Id. at 59. The sixty-day notice requirement elucidates the intention to provide time 

before a complaint is filed for either of those parties to take corrective steps (either enforcement 

action or cessation of discharges). Steel Co. v. Citizens for a Better Env’t, 523 U.S. 83, 108–09 

(1998).  

Focusing on when the discharge ended allows courts to return to the text of the CWA, 

which prohibits “discharges” from “point sources,” elements that seem largely forgotten in cases 

applying a doctrine of continuing violations to persistent pollutants in waters and wetlands. 33 

U.S.C. § 1362(12); see, e.g., Sierra Club v. El Paso Gold Mines, Inc., 421 F.3d 1133, 1140 (10th 

Cir. 2005) (“At the time of suit, the discharging activity from a point source in all of these cases 

had ceased.”) (emphasis in original). 

(ii) There is no evidence Mr. Bowman is likely to engage in any future CWA violation. 
 

Mr. Bowman’s decision to convey the unfilled part of his property makes a future 

discharge functionally impossible. (R. at 7). With no pattern of behavior or evidence that 

Bowman has sought to avoid this agreement, the Federation has no reasonable basis to assert that 

Bowman will not follow its terms. Bowman’s agreement to cease fill activity and convey an 

easement follows the spirit of the sixty-day notice requirement, which was to encourage 

defendants to enter into compliance before they were named in a citizen suit. See Steel Co., 523 

U.S. at 108–09. In fact, the district court agreed there was no genuine issue of fact as to this 

question because of the conveyed easement. (R. at 7). 

(iii) Mr. Bowman has ceased all fill operations and discharges that could violate the 
CWA. 
 

There has been no filling activity since forty-five days prior to the Federation’s 

complaint. Bowman was notified on July 1, 2011, of plaintiff’s intent to file suit, and the last 
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“discharge date” was July 15, two weeks later. Since then, he has conveyed the remaining 

unfilled wetland and riverfront property as a conservation easement, and has not filled any more 

property. (R. at 7). This fill activity was the basis of the Federation’s notice and subsequent 

complaint. (R. at 7). 

The only possible action plaintiffs could allege was a further violation after the complaint 

was filed is when Mr. Bowman planted wheat. This planting is not a violation for several 

reasons. First, it was not pled as a violation or an anticipated future violation that would cause 

harm to the plaintiffs. Second, there is no evidence to suggest that wheat growing on the field 

would be harmful in any way to plaintiffs when their alleged harm is based on an empty field 

having lower filtering effects on water entering the river. In fact, it is likely that vegetation 

growing on the field might limit erosion and improve the river’s water quality. Finally, 33 U.S.C. 

§ 1344(f)(1)(A) specifically indicates that normal farming activity, including seeding, is exempt 

from regulation under the CWA. 

III. THE AGENCY’S DILIGENT PROSECUTION OF MR. BOWMAN BARS 
THE FEDERATION’S DUPLICATIVE SUIT. 

 
A citizen suit under the CWA is barred by prior state action if the government has filed 

and is diligently prosecuting an action to require compliance with the same standard or 

limitation. Clean Water Act § 505, 33 U.S.C. § 1365(b)(1)(B) (2006). Citizen-plaintiffs bear the 

burden of proving an agency has failed to prosecute a CWA violation diligently, a particularly 

heavy burden, because the reviewing court’s “evaluation of the [agency]’s diligence is quite 

deferential.” Karr v. Hefner, 475 F.3d 1192, 1198 (10th Cir. 2007).  

The Federation contends NUDEP’s prosecution was not diligent because NUDEP 

forewent civil penalties and injunctive relief in favor of remediation. The Federation cannot meet 

the heavy burden of proving NUDEP’s choice to pursue remediation was not diligent 
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prosecution, because (A) the Federation’s suit concerns the same underlying alleged violations as 

the agency enforcement litigation. Furthermore, (B) NUDEP’s enforcement action bars any 

citizen suit which would supplant the agency’s enforcement role rather than supplementing it. 

A. NUDEP’s enforcement action bars the Federation’s suit because both concern 
the same alleged violation and seek compliance with the same CWA limitation. 

 
NUDEP’s enforcement action bars the Federation’s suit because both actions allege Mr. 

Bowman violated 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311(a), 1344 and seek to bring him into compliance with those 

two provisions of the CWA. Where an agency enforcement action seeks to bring an alleged 

polluter into compliance with a standard or limitation of the CWA, that action is diligent 

prosecution barring citizen suits against the same polluter to bring about compliance with the 

same statute. See Atlantic States Legal Found., Inc. v. United Musical Instruments, 61 F.3d 473, 

476 (6th Cir. 1995) (“Clean Water Act prohibits citizen suits for violations that are the basis of 

an [agency] enforcement action”).7 Congress intended to bar prosecution of a citizen suit in cases 

where an agency brings a civil or criminal action against the alleged polluter. See S. Rep. No. 

92-1236, at 145–46 (1972) (Conf. Rep.) (adopting the Senate and House Committees’ agreement 

that “[i]f the Administrator or a State begins a civil or criminal action on its own against an 

alleged polluter, no court action could take place on the citizen’s suit.”). Here, NUDEP 

responded to Mr. Bowman’s alleged violations of 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311(a), 1344 by filing an action 

to bring Mr. Bowman into compliance with those sections of the CWA. (R. at 4, 7). Because 

                                                
7 Other circuits have offered similar holdings indicating that where an agency brings litigation 
against an alleged polluter, a citizen-plaintiff is barred from suing the same party under CWA’s 
citizen suit provision. See Karr, 475 F.3d at 1197 (holding in the 10th Circuit that citizen suits to 
be permissible where the agency has failed to act, not where the agency has acted, but failed to 
be as aggressive as citizens would like) (citing Ellis v. Gallatin Steel Co. 390 F.3d 461, 477 (6th 
Cir. 2004)); Comfort Lake Ass’n v. Dresel Contracting, Inc., 138 F.3d 351, 356 (8th Cir. 1998) 
(finding citizen plaintiffs could not collaterally attack the agency’s decision that civil penalties of 
$12,203 were appropriate for the same violations alleged in the citizen suit). 
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NUDEP’s suit covered the same alleged violation and sought compliance with the same statutes, 

it is diligent prosecution barring the Federation’s suit.  

B. Agency enforcement action bars a citizen suit which would supplant the agency’s 
enforcement role rather than supplementing it. 

 
The CWA gives primary enforcement authority to the EPA and state enforcement 

agencies. Karr, 475 F.3d at 1197; see also S. Rep. No. 92-414, at 79–80 (1971) (stating that the 

citizen suit notice requirement was created to “encourage and provide for agency enforcement”). 

The citizen suit is meant to supplement rather than to supplant agency action. Gwaltney, 484 

U.S. at 60. (1) A citizen’s supplementary role means bringing violations to the agency’s attention 

and litigating only where the agency chooses not to do so. See id. (2) The bar on citizen suits 

which supplant an agency’s enforcement authority means a citizen-plaintiff cannot bring 

litigation substituting its own ideal penalty for the one chosen by the agency. See id. (3) 

Duplicative citizen suits undermine the agency’s ability to negotiate binding consent decrees 

obtaining extensive concessions like those from Mr. Bowman. See Karr, 475 F.3d at 1194. (4) 

Rather than supplanting the agency’s role by filing a duplicative suit, Citizen-plaintiffs may 

voice their displeasure with an agency’s penalty choice by intervening in the agency’s action. 33 

U.S.C. 1365(b)(1)(B). For each of these individually sufficient reasons, the Federation’s suit is 

barred under 33 U.S.C. 1365(b)(1)(B).  

(i) Congress intended CWA citizen-plaintiffs to supplement the agency’s enforcement 
role by bringing violations to the agency’s attention and litigating against polluters 
the agency did not pursue. 

 
A citizen-plaintiff’s role in the CWA is to supplement agencies by bringing violations to 

the agency’s attention and litigating where the agency chooses not to do so. See Gwaltney, 484 

U.S. at 60. The citizen-suit notice requirement demonstrates a citizen’s role in supplementing the 

agency by bringing violations to agency attention. See 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a) (2006). Prior to the 
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CWA, a growing number of citizens were unwilling to rely on agency action and would instead 

file their own suit. H. Rep. No. 92-911, at 132 (1972). To cure this misappropriation of 

enforcement authority, the CWA created a citizen-suit provision, which required a sixty-day 

waiting period between notice and suit for the sole purpose of “giv[ing] the administrative 

enforcement office an opportunity to act on the alleged violation.” S. Rep. No. 92-414, at 80 

(1971). Citizen suits are proper only if the Federal, State, and local agencies fail to exercise their 

enforcement responsibility. Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 60 (quoting S. Rep. No. 92-414, at 64 (1971)); 

accord Atlantic States Legal Found., Inc. v. Eastman Kodak Co., 933 F.2d 124, 127 (2d Cir. 

1991) (“The purpose of the citizen suit is to stop violations of the Clean Water Act that are not 

challenged by appropriate state … authorities.”). In this way, the CWA sought to use citizen suits 

to supplement agency resources by bringing violators to the agency’s attention and pursuing 

litigation where the agency lacked sufficient resources. 

(ii) Congress did not intend for CWA citizen-plaintiffs to supplant the agency’s 
enforcement role by bringing duplicative litigation substituting the citizen-plaintiff’s 
ideal penalty for the agency’s penalty choice. 

 
 A citizen-plaintiff’s role in the CWA’s regulatory scheme is not to supplant agencies by 

substituting the citizen-plaintiff’s ideal penalty for the agency’s penalty choice. Citizen suits are 

improper if an agency has exercised its enforcement responsibility. See Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 

60. There will inevitably be cases where an agency enforces the CWA against a polluter but 

seeks penalties less than a citizen-plaintiff would prefer. In these cases, allowing citizens to seek 

penalties that an Administrator chose to forgo would change the citizens’ role from interstitial to 

potentially intrusive, in violation of congressional intent. Id. at 61; accord Comfort Lake 138 

F.3d at 355-57 (private plaintiffs cannot “collaterally attack” agency’s decision that a certain 

level of civil penalties is sufficient and no remedial or corrective action is necessary). 
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Furthermore, allowing a second suit to seek additional penalties for the same allegedly unlawful 

action would subject the defendant to civil double jeopardy. See Orange Env’t, Inc. v. County of 

Orange, 923 F. Supp. 529, 540 (S.D.N.Y. 1996). This Court should not assume Congress meant 

such a drastic result as to allow the citizen-plaintiff the power to supplant an agency’s 

enforcement authority without clear congressional intent. This is particularly true when, as 

discussed below, Congress has provided citizens the ability to raise their concerns by intervening 

in the agency’s action as a matter of right. 

(iii) The extensive concessions extracted through NUDEP’s negotiated consent decree 
would not be possible if duplicative citizen suits were permitted. 

 
In the case at bar NUDEP has not brought some mere charade of an action, but instead 

has extracted extensive remediation from Mr. Bowman. The NUDEP consent order requires Mr. 

Bowman deed an easement to NUDEP precluding his development of 146,250 square feet of his 

land,8 allowing public use of that land, and requiring Mr. Bowman pay for the construction and 

continued maintenance of a year-round partially-inundated wetland. This agreement utilizes his 

resources to secure the State interests in preserving the Muddy River’s viewscape, enhancing the 

wetlands, and opening up more space for public recreation. Remediation may take the place of 

civil penalties in diligently administering the CWA. Though this remediation may not “meet the 

desires of the private parties,” it qualifies as diligent prosecution if it “provide[s] society with a 

remedy against” alleged polluters. Cf. Orange, 923 F. Supp. at 539 (holding that even off-site 

remediation can take the place of civil penalties).  

The negotiated consent decree is an important tool for agency enforcement of the CWA. 

Negotiated consent decrees enable agencies to attain remedial goals otherwise beyond the reach 

of the CWA. See, e.g., Karr, 475 F.3d at 1194 (using consent decree to require polluter to restore 

                                                
8 A plot measuring 225 by 650 feet. 
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and stabilize wells against future damage); Orange, 923 F. Supp. at 533–34 (using consent 

decree to obtain off-site remediation). These negotiated settlements allow agencies to obtain 

specific performance, which would cost them more than they could obtain through increased 

civil penalties. If this were not the case, the agency would simply assess the civil penalty then 

purchase the specific performance. Cf. Orange, 923 F. Supp. at 532 (imposing a civil penalty but 

waiving 80% of it in exchange for off-site remediation). It would be pure absurdity to read the 

CWA as requiring agencies to accept a small civil penalty (at most $125,000) rather than an 

alternative form of remediation: a permanent easement and the dedication of untold resources 

towards the upkeep of new wetlands.  

Allowing the Federation’s suit to proceed would destroy the NUDEP’s ability to enforce 

the CWA by negotiating consent agreements. If citizens are allowed to file suit “to seek the civil 

penalties that the [agency] chose to forgo, the [agency’s] discretion to enforce the Act in the 

public interest would be curtailed considerably” in stark contrast to Congress’s intended result. 

Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 61. The citizen’s ability to seek those civil penalties that the agency 

chooses to concede in order to extract concessions from a polluter would render the agency 

without the ability to effectively use concessions in negotiation. See Deepak Malhotra, The Fine 

Art of Making Concessions, Negotiation, Jan. 2006, at 9, 10 (discussing the importance of 

reciprocal and binding concessions to credible negotiated agreements). NUDEP would no longer 

be able to make credible concessions to alleged polluters, such as Mr. Bowman, therefore it 

would be unable to extract reciprocal concessions. In constricting NUDEP’s discretion to 

negotiate consent agreements as a means to enforce the Act in the public interest, the 

Federation’s suit would supplant the agency in its role as primary enforcer of the CWA. 
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(iv) Instead of supplanting an agency’s enforcement role by filing their own suit, citizen-
plaintiffs may dispute the reasonableness of an agency penalty choice by intervening 
in the agency’s action. 

 
This is not to say citizens may never question an agency’s choice of remedy. Citizens are 

free to argue the court should not accept a remediation proposal based on whether it is achievable 

and sufficient to serve the ends of the CWA. See United States v. Deaton, 332 F.3d 698, 714 (4th 

Cir. 2003) (laying out three synthesized factors district courts should examine in evaluating an 

agency’s remediation proposal). But Congress has made clear that citizen-plaintiffs may not 

bring their own suit for this purpose once an agency begins a civil or criminal action. S. Rep. No. 

92-1236, at 145–46 (1972) (Conf. Rep.). Instead, the proper locale for that challenge is the 

agency’s action. Thus, Congress reserved for citizens the right to intervene in the agency’s 

enforcement action under the CWA. 33 U.S.C. § 1365(b)(1)(B). Through intervention, the 

Federation can argue that NUDEP’s remediation is insufficient or unachievable, but they cannot 

make this argument by subjecting Mr. Bowman to a duplicative lawsuit wherein they substitute 

their own ideal penalties for those of the agency. 

IV.  THERE IS NO VIOLATION OF THE CLEAN WATER ACT BECAUSE 
MOVING MATERIAL AROUND WITHIN THE WETLAND DOES NOT 
CONSTITUTE “ADDITION” OF A POLLUTANT. 

 
Mr. Bowman's actions do not constitute a violation of the CWA because a permit is only 

required where the actions constitute an “addition” of pollutants to the wetlands. Section 301(a) 

of the CWA prohibits “the discharge of any pollutant by any person” unless in compliance with 

the permitting scheme established throughout CWA. 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a) (2006). The relevant 

portion of the permitting scheme in this case is § 404 of the CWA, which authorizes the United 

States Army Corps of Engineers to issue permits “for the discharge of dredged or fill material 

into the navigable waters.” Id. § 1344. The CWA defines “discharge” as “any addition of any 
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pollutant to navigable waters from any point source.” Id. § 1362(12). Thus, in order to find that 

Mr. Bowman has violated § 404 of the CWA, the court must find that his actions constitute an 

“addition” of pollutants. There has been no “addition” of a pollutant to the wetland in this case 

because Mr. Bowman has simply moved material around within the same wetland. 

Mr. Bowman urges this court to affirm the trial court's finding that there is no violation of 

the CWA. (A) The plain and ordinary meaning of “addition” unambiguously requires that at least 

some previously absent material must be added to the wetland in order for there to be a 

“discharge”; (B) the plain meaning should be followed because it does not lead to absurd results; 

(C) the plain meaning is consistent with legislative intent; and (D) The Supreme Court's opinion 

that pumping a pollutant from one body of water into another that is not “meaningfully distinct” 

does not constitute “addition” under § 402 of the CWA is equally applicable to § 404. 

A. The plain meaning of “addition” requires that some previously absent material 
must be introduced in contrast to simple redistribution of existing material. 

 
Some new or previously absent material must be introduced in order for there to be an 

“addition.” The CWA specifically states that “discharge” means “addition.” 33 U.S.C. § 

1362(12). The Supreme Court insists that when the language used in a statute is plain, that 

language gives “meaning to the Act, and it is neither the duty nor the privilege of the courts to 

enter speculative fields in search of a different meaning.” Caminetti v. United States, 242 U.S. 

470, 490 (1917); accord Lockhart v. United States, 546 U.S. 142, 146 (2005); Jay v. Boyd, 351 

U.S. 345, 358 (1956). Here, the term “addition” is unambiguous. “Addition” means “[s]omething 

added, such as a room or section appended to a building.” American Heritage Dictionary 20 (3d 

ed. 1992). To “add” something in this context means to “increase in size [or] quantity,” requiring 

the inclusion of something previously absent. See id. Based on this definition, there is no 

“addition of any pollutant,” if material is solely being redistributed and no new material is being 
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added to the area from anywhere outside of the wetland. Here, Mr. Bowman has merely moved 

material around within the same wetland. Mr. Bowman did not include any additional material 

previously absent to the wetland and thus the requirement that there be “addition” cannot be 

satisfied. 

This plain and ordinary meaning of “addition” was adopted by the Circuit Court for the 

District of Columbia. Nat’l Mining Ass’n v. U.S. Army Corps of Eng’rs, 145 F.3d 1399 (D.C. 

Cir. 1998). The Court in Nat’l Mining argued that they “fail to see how there can be an addition 

of dredged material when there is no addition of material.” Id. at 1404. This decision invalidated 

the Tulloch Rule, promulgated by the US Army Corps of Engineers, in which the Corps defined 

the term “discharge” to include “redeposit” of dredged material. United States v. Hallmark 

Constr. Co., 30 F. Supp. 2d 1033, 1037 (N.D. Ill. 1998). The D.C. Circuit reasoned that by 

defining “discharge” to include the redeposit of dredged material in what was substantially the 

same location from which it was removed “eschews the Act’s ‘addition’ requirement.” Nat’l 

Mining, 145 F.3d at 1408.9 In this case, Mr. Bowman has, similarly, redeposited material that 

                                                
9 The facts in Nat’l Mining deal with what is known as “incidental fallback,” where the intent of 
the actor is to remove portions of the wetland, but during that process, some of the material falls 
back into the wetland in roughly the same location from which it was removed. This is relevant 
to the case at hand—even though this case deals with intentional redeposit of dredged spoil—
because no additional fill material is being added from outside of the wetland. Thus, in both 
cases, there is no net “addition” of material as is contemplated and made unlawful by § 404 of 
the CWA. Furthermore, it is irrelevant that, unlike in Nat’l Mining, Mr. Bowman burned the 
trees and other vegetation that he cleared from the wetland. In Consumers Power Co., the Sixth 
Circuit held that although a hydro-electric facility's turbines caused the death of many of the fish 
that were carried through the facility before releasing the fish remains back into Lake Michigan, 
this did not constitute “addition” of pollutants to navigable waters because there was no addition 
of material from the outside world. Nat'l Wildlife Fed'n v. Consumers Power Co., 862 F.2d 580, 
581 (6th Cir. 1988). 
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was already contained in the wetland by redistributing earth within the same location from which 

it came. 

 Fourth Circuit Judge Neimeyer argued that the “rational interpretation” of the CWA is 

that “movement of native soil a few feet within a wetland does not constitute the discharge of 

that soil into that wetland.” United States v. Wilson, 133 F.3d 251, 259 (4th Cir. 1997). Judge 

Neimeyer goes on to argue that “‘addition’ requires the introduction of a new material into the 

area, or an increase in the amount of a type of material which is already present. Id. Where, as is 

the case here, no material is being added from outside the wetland, the plain and ordinary 

meaning of “addition” dictates that simple redistribution of earth that is already within the 

wetland cannot constitute a regulable action under § 404. 

B. A rule that “addition” does not require new material to be added from outside of 
the wetland leads to absurd results, including the potential prohibition and 
regulation of normal activities such as bicycling in a wetland. 

 
The plain and ordinary meaning of the word “addition” is clear and should be employed 

because the alternative interpretation—that nothing new must be added to constitute a violation 

of the CWA—does lead to absurd results. The Supreme Court maintains that courts are not 

permitted to reject the plain meaning of the language in a statute unless it leads to absurd results. 

E.g., Dodd v. United States, 545 U.S. 353, 359 (2005). Mr. Bowman submits that the plain and 

ordinary meaning of “addition” does not lead to absurd results, but rather, prevents the absurd 

results of the proposed alternative interpretation. 

A myriad of normal activities that were never intended to be outlawed would be a 

violation of the CWA if this court were to hold that no additional material must be added to a 

navigable water in order for “addition” to occur within the meaning of “discharge” in § 404. The 

U.S. Army Corps of Engineers has acknowledged that “it is virtually impossible to conduct 



31  

mechanized land clearing, ditching, channelization or excavation in waters of the United States 

without causing incidental redeposition of dredged material (however small or temporary) in the 

process.” Nat’l Mining, 145 F.3d at 1403 (citing 58 Fed. Reg. 45008-01 (Aug. 25, 1993) 

(codified at 33 C.F.R. pts. 323, 328)). This means that many lawful activities would be a 

violation of the CWA if “addition” were construed to include redeposition of dredged material, 

including maintenance of pre-existing ditches, which is explicitly exempted from regulation 

under 33 U.S.C. § 1344(f)(1)(C). See Nat’l Mining, 145 F.3d at 1405. 

The act of bicycling across a wetland could be a violation of § 404 of the CWA if 

redeposition of dredged spoil is considered to be “addition.” Nat’l Mining, 145 F.3d at 1404 n.4. 

This is the absurd result of the argument that was presented by the Federation to the district 

court, that “the defendant removed soil from the ditch but returned dredged spoil to the wetland, 

adding a pollutant to the wetland where there had been no pollutant before.” (R. at 10). If that is 

the case, then when a citizen rides a bicycle across a wetland, any earth that is kicked into the air 

by the tires of the bicycle would become “dredged spoil,” and upon return to the ground would 

constitute “addition of a pollutant.” The same is true of using an ATV in a wetland where earth 

may become attached to the bottom of the vehicle’s tires and then be deposited in a separate 

location. Surely the intention of Congress was not to prohibit or require a permit for activities 

such as this that merely move earth around within a wetland. 

C. The plain meaning of “addition” is consistent with Congress’s intent to end the 
open water disposal of dredged spoil. 

 
The idea that there can be no “addition” unless material is added from outside of the 

wetland is consistent with legislative intent. In the district court, the Federation argued that 

requiring material to be added from the “outside world” would “read the dredge and fill permit 

program out of the statute.” (R. at 9). The district court flatly rejected this misreading of the 



32  

statute. (R. at 9). The legislative history in this case suggests that Congress “understood 

‘discharge of dredged material’ to mean open water disposal of material removed during the 

digging or deepening of navigable waterways.” Am. Mining Cong. v. U.S. Army Corps of 

Eng’rs, 951 F. Supp. 267, 273 (D.D.C. 1997), aff'd sub nom. Nat’l Mining Ass’n v. U.S. Army 

Corps of Eng’rs, 145 F.3d 1399 (D.C. Cir. 1998).10 This means that § 404 was intended to 

regulate the open water disposal of byproducts of activities like dredging and excavation, not the 

activities themselves.11 Therefore, the “dredge and fill permit program” would not be read out of 

the statute under the plain meaning interpretation of “addition” that is accepted 

in Wilson and Nat’l Mining because § 404 would still prohibit the “discharge” of dredged spoil 

and fill in a location that is wholly distinct from the location from which it was removed. 

D. The Supreme Court’s opinion that pumping a pollutant from one body of water 
into another that is not “meaningfully distinct” does not constitute “addition” under 
§ 402 of the CWA is equally applicable to § 404. 

 
The Supreme Court held that under § 402 of the CWA, a NPDES permit12 is not required 

when polluted water is pumped between two water bodies that are not “meaningfully distinct.” S. 

Fla. Water Mgmt. Dist. v. Miccosukee Tribe of Indians, 541 U.S. 95, 112 (2004) (case was 

remanded for factual determination of whether or not the two bodies of water in question were 

                                                
10 The United States District Court for the District of Columbia further supported their 
understanding of the Congressional intent of § 404 by quoting the 1977 Senate Report which 
stated that “Congress intended that § 404 in the 1972 act would in its initial implementation end 
the open water disposal of dredged spoil.” Id. (quoting S. Rep. No. 77-370, at 68 (1977)). 
11 In fact, excavation and filling are already regulated by 33 U.S.C. § 403, which is a separate 
statutory framework. See Am. Mining Cong., 951 F.Supp. at 272 (“In § 10 of the Rivers and 
Harbors Appropriation Act of 1899, Congress made it unlawful 'to excavate or fill' any point or 
harbor without Corps authorization.”); see also Charles D. Ablard & Brian B. O’Neill, Wetland 
Protection and Section 404 of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act Amendments of 1972: A 
Corps of Engineers Renaissance, 1 Vt. L. Rev. 51, 93 (1976) (“Section 10 of the 1899 Act covers 
the act of dredging, while Section 404 covers the disposal of the dredged material.”). 
12 An NPDES permit is governed under § 402 of the CWA. 33 U.S.C. § 1342(a). The difference 
between § 402 and § 404 is that § 404 explicitly deals with dredge and fill permits. 
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“meaningfully distinct.”) Neither party in that case disputed that pumping water from one part of 

a body of water to another part of that same body water cannot constitute “addition” of a 

pollutant. Miccosukee, 541 U.S. at 109. 13  By creating the “meaningfully distinct” test 

in Miccosukee, the Supreme Court adopted the principles of the “outside world” doctrine as 

promulgated by the EPA. 73 Fed. Reg. 33697-01 (June 13, 2008) (codified at 40 C.F.R. pt. 122) 

(“the term ‘addition’ may reasonably be limited to situations in which the point source itself 

physically introduces a pollutant into the water from the outside world.”).14 The bright-line rule 

thus created by the Supreme Court and previously adopted by several circuits is that under § 402 

of the CWA, there can be no “addition” unless pollutants are added from the “outside world.”  

The “outside world” and “meaningfully distinct” tests should also apply to § 404 of the 

CWA. Both Sections use the definition of “discharge” that is provided by § 301(a). See 33 

U.S.C. § 1311(a). “There is a natural presumption that identical words used in different parts of 

the same act are intended to have the same meaning.” Atl. Cleaners & Dyers v. United States, 

286 U.S. 427, 433 (1932); accord Gustafson v. Alloyd Co., Inc., 513 U.S. 561, 573 (1995) (if 

Congress means for a word to have different meanings in different sections of a statute, they will 

explicitly say so). Here, not only are identical words used in different parts of the same act but 

                                                
13 Justice O’Conner, writing for eight members of the Court adopted the analogy that “if one 
takes a ladle of soup from a pot, lifts it above the pot, and pours it back into the pot, one has not 
‘added’ soup or anything else to pot.” Id. at 110 (2004) (quoting Catskill Mountains Chapter of 
Trout Unlimited, Inc. v. City of New York, 273 F.3d 481, 492 (2d Cir. 2001)). 
14 The “outside world” doctrine had previously been adopted by several circuits in finding no 
that no addition occurred under § 402. See, e.g., Nat’l Wildlife Fed’n v. Gorsuch, 693 F.2d 156, 
164 (D.C. Cir. 1982) (deferring to EPA's interpretation of “addition” to occur only when 
pollutant is introduced from the “outside world”); Consumers Power, 862 F.2d at 586 (fish 
remains that were redeposited into the water were not from “outside word” even though fish 
were alive when removed from lake); cf. Trout Unlimited, 273 F.3d at 481 (accepting principles 
of “outside world” doctrine but finding there was “addition” under § 402 because transfer of 
water was from one body of water into another distinct body of water). 
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those words are defined by an identical definition, i.e. the term “addition.” Thus, the Supreme 

Court's interpretation of “addition” in the context of § 402 should apply equally in the context of 

§ 404. See Gustafson, 513 U.S. at 573.  

There is no violation of the CWA if the Supreme Court's “meaningfully distinct” test or 

the EPA’s “outside world” doctrine is applied to § 404. It remains undisputed that no additional 

material was added to Mr. Bowman’s wetlands when he moved dredged and fill material within 

his property. Moreover, the fact that Mr. Bowman burned the trees and vegetation that he cleared 

on his land is irrelevant to the “outside world” doctrine as demonstrated in Consumers Power. 

862 F.2d at 587. Mr. Bowman burning the trees is no different than the hydro-electric facility 

that would cause the death of fish that were caught in its turbines. Id. In both cases, no additional 

material is added from the “outside world,” rather material that was already contained within the 

navigable water is transformed and altered. Without the addition of material from the “outside 

world,” there is no “addition” of a pollutant under the CWA if the principles adopted by the 

Supreme Court apply to § 404. As such, the trial court's ruling that no violation occurred should 

be affirmed. 

CONCLUSION 

 The district court’s dismissal of the Federation’s suit was proper. The federation lacks 

standing because they have not demonstrated actual harm to a legally protected interest, nor have 

they provided evidence to support their speculation that Mr. Bowman caused that alleged harm. 

The district court lacked subject matter jurisdiction because the Federation’s suit concerned 

violations which were wholly past. Alternatively, the district court also lacked subject matter 

jurisdiction because NUDEP’s negotiated settlement and subsequent civil action constitute 

diligent prosecution barring citizen suit concerning the same alleged violation. Finally, even if 
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the Federation had standing to bring a case and the district court had subject matter jurisdiction 

to hear the case, the Federation has not alleged facts sufficient to satisfy the “addition” 

requirement of discharging a pollutant. It does not allege any previously absent material was 

“deposited in” Mr. Bowman’s field, but rather that water was “removed.” 

 For the foregoing independently sufficient reasons, Mr. Bowman respectfully requests 

that this Court affirm the decision of the district court to grant summary judgment in favor of Mr. 

Bowman. 

 

              Respectfully submitted, 

              

             Counsel for Jim Bob Bowman 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 


